
PLANS COMMITTEE

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees

Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control.

To: Councillors Bebbington, Bentley, Campsall, Forrest (Vice-Chair), Fryer, Gerrard, 
Grimley, Lowe, Page (Chair), Seaton, Snartt, Tassell and Tillotson 

(For attention)

All other members of the Council
(For information)

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Plans Committee to be held in Woodgate 
Chambers on Thursday, 25th April 2019 at 5.00 pm for the following business.

Chief Executive

Southfields
Loughborough

15th April 2019

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES

2.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 3 - 7

The Committee is asked to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 4th April 2019.

3.  QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8

No questions were submitted.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


4.  DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS

5.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 8 - 20

The list of planning applications to be considered at the meeting is attached.

6.  LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS

21 - 24

A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period 
from 25th March 2019 to 12th April 2019 is attached.

WHERE TO FIND WOODGATE CHAMBERS

Woodgate Chambers
70 Woodgate 
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2TZ

Woodgate 
Chambers (Old 
Magistrates Court)

Woodgate

Beehive Lane 
Car Park

Town Hall / Town Centre

Public 
Gallery 
Entrance

A6 
Leicester

A6 Derby

Woodgate

Page 2



1 Plans Committee - 4th April 2019
Published - 15th April 2019 

PLANS COMMITTEE
4TH APRIL 2019

PRESENT: The Vice-chair (Councillor Forrest)
Councillors Bebbington, Bentley, Campsall, 
Gerrard, Grimley, Lowe, Savage, Seaton, Snartt, 
Tassell and Tillotson

Head of Planning and Regeneration
Team Leader Development Management
Principal Planning Officer (RN)
Planning Enforcement Officer
Environmental Protection Manager
Principal Solicitor (KH)
Democratic Services Officer (MH)

APOLOGIES: Councillors Fryer and Page

The Vice-chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  She also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control.

54. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7th March 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed.

55. QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8 

No questions were submitted.

56. DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS 

The following disclosures were made:

(i) by Councillor Bentley – a personal interest in enforcement case E/16/0434 
as the person speaking on behalf of the developer was known to him, but 
not in a personal capacity;

(ii) by Councillor Forrest – a disclosure under the Planning Code of Good 
Practice in respect of application P/18/2482/2 as the application site was in 
her ward; however the matter had been dealt with by her fellow ward 
councillor, Councillor Tillotson, and she retained an open mind;

(iii) by Councillor Grimley – a disclosable pecuniary interest in application 
P/18/0888/2 as he was employed by the architects who were working on 
the community centre adjacent to the application site;

(iv) by Councillor Grimley – a disclosure under the Planning Code of Good 
Practice in respect of enforcement case E/16/0434 that he had asked for 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 Plans Committee - 4th April 2019
Published - 15th April 2019 

the matter to be considered by the Plans Committee; however he had not 
expressed an opinion on the matter and retained an open mind;

(v) by Councillor Snartt – a personal interest in enforcement case E/16/0434 as 
the person speaking on behalf of the developer was known to him as she 
had done work for a parish council within his ward;

(vi) by Councillor Tillotson – a disclosure under the Planning Code of Good 
Practice in respect of application P/18/2482/2 as she had called the 
application in and would be speaking against the application.

57. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

Reports of the Head of Planning and Regeneration, setting out applications for 
planning permission and an enforcement case, were submitted (items 1 to 4 in the 
appendix to the agenda filed with these minutes).  Additional Items reports in respect 
of applications P/18/0888/2, P/18/2469/2, P/18/2482/2 and enforcement case 
E/16/0434 were also submitted (also filed with these minutes).

In accordance with the procedure for public speaking at meetings, the following local 
residents, representative of the developer and representative of a parish council 
attended the meeting and expressed their views:

(i) Mr J. Lovett (local resident) in respect of application P/18/2469/2;
(ii) Ms V. Munden (local resident), Ms L. Marjoram (on behalf of the developer) 

and Mr E. Guest (on behalf of Thrussington Parish Council) in respect of 
enforcement case E/16/0434.

In accordance with the procedure for Borough Councillors speaking at Plans 
Committee meetings, the following Councillors attended the meeting and expressed 
their views:

(i) Councillor Smidowicz in respect of application P/18/2469/2;
(ii) Councillor Tillotson in respect of application P/18/2482/2;
(iii) Councillor Poland in respect of enforcement case E/16/0434.

Having disclosed a pecuniary interest, Councillor Grimley left the meeting during the 
consideration of application P/18/0888/2 (William Davis Ltd, Land off Highland Drive 
and Knox Road, Loughborough).

In respect of application P/18/0888/2 (William Davis Ltd, Land off Highland Drive and 
Knox Road, Loughborough), officers drew attention to the proposed change to the 
terms of the agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
set out in the Additional Information report.

During the course of the consideration of application P/18/2469/2 (Mr Mick Burke, 7 
Derwent Drive, Loughborough) Councillor Bentley withdrew from the meeting.

Having made a disclosure under the Planning Code of Good Practice, Councillor 
Tillotson left the meeting during the consideration of application P/18/2482/2 (Ms A. 
Bailey, 133 Knightthorpe Road, Loughborough).

Page 4



3 Plans Committee - 4th April 2019
Published - 15th April 2019 

RESOLVED

1. that, in respect of application P/18/0888/2 (William Davis Ltd, Land off Highland 
Drive and Knox Road, Loughborough):

(a) authority be given to the Head of Planning and Regeneration and the 
Head of Strategic Support to enter into an agreement under section 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure improvements, on 
terms to be finalised by the parties, as set out below: 

 
 Provision of on-site Affordable Housing involving a total of 7 

dwellings, the exact tenure for the affordable housing would 2 x 3 
bed shared ownership; 4 x 2 bed rent and 1 x 2 bed bungalow for 
rent; 

 A financial contribution of £86,952.48 towards secondary school 
education provision and to the Post 16 sector made up of: 

£71,683.44 to be spent on secondary school provision to improve 
capacity at Woodbrook Vale School, which falls within the 
catchment area;
£15,269.04 to be spent on improving capacity at Rawlins 
Community College Academy as a Post 16 Sector requirement;

 A financial contribution of £720 towards Quorn library;
 A financial contribution of £4,681.44 (£195.06 x 24 dwellings) 

towards improving existing to health facilities;
 A financial contribution towards to Sustainable Travel Packs supplied 

at £52.85 per pack and 6 month bus passes at a cost of £360.00 per 
pass;

 A financial contribution of £77,315.53 towards the provision of off-site 
natural and semi natural open space; parks; open space for young 
people/children; the provision of outdoor sports facilities and towards 
the provision of allotments;

(b) subject to the completion of the Section 106 legal agreement referred to 
in resolution 1(a) above, planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions, reasons and advice notes set out in the report of the Head of 
Planning and Regeneration and an amendment to condition 6 to require 
native species to be included in the landscape scheme;

(c) that it be noted that officers would take back to the Highway Authority the 
Committee’s concern that there was not a bus route serving the area and 
report the outcome of those discussions to members of the Committee;

2. that, in respect of application P/18/2469/2 (Mr Mick Burke, 7 Derwent Drive, 
Loughborough), planning permission be granted subject to the conditions, 
reasons and advice notes set out in the report of the Head of Planning and 
Regeneration and to the following additional conditions and amendment to a 
condition:

(i) an additional condition to require that there are no more than six 
occupants of the property;

Page 5



4 Plans Committee - 4th April 2019
Published - 15th April 2019 

(ii) an additional condition to require that a cycle store is provided to the rear 
of the property;

(iii) subject to the agreement of the applicant, an amendment to condition 6 
to require the design details of the bin storage facilities to be submitted 
prior to the commencement of the development;

3. that, in respect of application P/18/2482/2 (Ms A. Bailey, 133 Knightthorpe 
Road, Loughborough), planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions, reasons and advice notes set out in the report of the Head of 
Planning and Regeneration and to the following additional condition:

(i) to require that there are no more than seven occupants of the property 
as the property had a sui generis use as a large house in multiple 
occupation and further intensification of the use would be detrimental to 
the amenity of local residents;

4. that, in respect of enforcement case E/16/0434 (Wreake Valley Craftsmen Ltd, 
25 Rearsby Road, Thrussington), no further action be taken for the following 
reason:

The requirements of Condition 11 attached to planning permission P/15/2236/2 
have not been fully undertaken as the damping sheets, which the acoustic 
assessment that was approved pursuant to this condition recommended, have 
not been installed to all sides of the dust extraction unit but in not carrying out 
this final step it is not considered that there will be an audible change 
detectable by the human ear in noise level.  In addition Condition 11 does not 
require that a specific noise level be achieved or that the noise mitigation 
measures be maintained and/or retained in perpetuity and therefore it is not 
considered reasonable for the Council to pursue this matter any further.

 
Following the consideration of item 6 on the agenda, members of the Committee 
stated that it was preferable for items with no public speakers to be considered at the 
end of the agenda to avoid speakers having to wait.  It was explained the agenda was 
prepared with that in mind and the Chair could decide to vary the order of items on the 
agenda at the meeting.

58. LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period from 
25th February 2019 to 22nd March 2019 was submitted (item 6 on the agenda filed 
with these minutes).

NOTES:

1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 24th June 
2019 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services Manager by 
five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following publication 
of these minutes.

Page 6



5 Plans Committee - 4th April 2019
Published - 15th April 2019 

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Plans Committee.

Page 7



Charnwood Borough Council

Plans Committee – 25th April 2019
Index of Committee Items

Item Application 
No

Applicant and Location, 
Description

Recommendation Page

1 P/18/2601/2 Properties 365 Limited
68 Paget Street
Loughborough

  Grant Conditionally  9

Erection of single storey 
extension to rear of C4 dwelling 
(house of multiple occupation) to 
create additional bedroom.

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



Item No. 1

Application Reference Number P/18/2601/2

Application Type: Householder  Date Valid: 28th January 2019
Applicant: Properties 365 Limited
Proposal: Erection of single storey extension to rear of C4 dwelling (house 

of multiple occupation) to create additional bedroom.
Location: 68 Paget Street

Loughborough
LE11 5DT

Parish: Loughborough Ward:
Case Officer: Lewis Marshall Tel No: 01509 634691 

This item has been called in to Plans Committee at the request of Councillor Tillotson 
who has concerns about the proposal.

Description of the Application

The host dwelling is a Victorian mid-terraced property situated on the southern side 
of Paget Street, Loughborough.  The area is predominately residential in character 
although many properties, including the host dwelling, operate as Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HiMOs).  Immediately to the north-west is the adjoining dwelling, No 67 
Paget Street, with No 69 Paget Street to the south.  

The property lies within the Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area, which is 
characterised by high density terraced streets. 

Planning permission is sought to demolish the existing single storey rear outrigger 
and replace it with a slightly deeper and taller extension, providing an additional en-
suite bedroom, WC, utility room and kitchen. 

The extension would increase the number of bedrooms at the property from four to 
five, along with a communal living and dining area.   

Following officer advice, amended plans have been received which make provision 
for the single storey rear extension to be reduced in height and to alter the roof form 
as proposed.  The application now proposes a shallow roof gable that falls away to 
the boundary shared with no. 69 Paget Street. 

Development Plan Policies

Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy

Policy CS1 – Development Strategy sets out the development strategy and directions 
of growth for the Borough.  

Page 9



Policy CS2 – High Quality Design requires new developments to respect and 
enhance the character of the area, protect the amenity of people who live and work 
nearby and function well and add to the quality of the area.

Policy CS4 – Houses in Multiple Occupation seeks to support the well-being, 
character and amenity of our communities by managing the proportion of houses in 
multiple occupation.  It states that Class C4 dwellings will be prevented where they, 
either in themselves, or cumulatively with other HiMOs damage the social/physical 
character and amenity of a street or residential area or generate noise and 
disturbance which is detrimental to the amenity of the street or residential area or 
generate a demand for on-street car parking that would prejudice the safe operation 
of the highway or cause detriment to amenity.

Policy CS16 – Sustainable Construction and Energy encourages sustainable design 
and construction and the provision of renewable energy including supporting 
developments that reduce waste, provide for the suitable storage of waste and allow 
convenient waste collections.

Borough of Charnwood Local Plan

Policy EV/1 – Design seeks to ensure a high standard of design for developments, 
which, inter alia, respects and enhances the local environment, is of a design, layout, 
scale and mass compatible with the locality and utilises materials appropriate to the 
locality.

Policy H/17 – Extensions to Dwellings states that planning permission will be granted 
provided the development meets specific criteria relating to the scale, mass, design 
and use of materials with the original dwelling etc.  

Policy TR/18 indicates that planning permission will not be granted for development 
unless off-street parking for vehicles, including cycles, and servicing arrangements 
are included to secure highway safety and minimize harm to visual and local 
amenities.  The policy promotes standards that would require 3 parking spaces for a 
4 or more bedroom dwelling, although it states that this will be used as the starting 
point in assessing the level of provision and represent the maximum level.  The 
quantity of parking allowed should reflect the proposed use and the location of 
development, the availability of public off-street parking; the current, or potential 
accessibility by non-car modes and the scope for practical measures to significantly 
reduce the use of private car trips to and from a site.

Other material considerations

The National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework (chapter 7) sets out a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  The framework identifies the economic and social roles 
of the planning system, both to build a strong responsive economy by ensuring land 
(and presumably buildings) are available in the right place at the right time, and 
supporting the health of the community by ensuring housing for present needs that 
has a high quality built environment, which encompasses social and cultural well-
being.  One of the principles of planning is to seek a good standard of amenity for all 

Page 10



existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe. 

Section 16 provides guidance on conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  
Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear 
and convincing justification.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal. 

Leading in Design SPD

The adopted Leading in Design Supplementary Planning Document is a working 
document intended to encourage, promote and inspire higher design standards in 
development throughout Charnwood.

House Extensions SPG

The adopted House Extensions Supplementary Planning Guidance (2001) sets out 
guidelines for the assessment of house extensions on neighbouring amenity. The 
SPG remains broadly consistent with Saved Local Plan Policies EV1 and H17 and 
Core Strategy Policy CS2.

Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area Character Appraisal

The Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2005) sets 
out the special qualities of the Ashby Road Conservation Area, to provide a sound 
basis for proposals for its preservation or enhancement and for development 
management decisions.   

The Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (2018)

This is a guide published by Leicestershire County Council, the local highway 
authority, and provides information to developers and local planning authorities to 
assist in the design of road layouts in new development.  The purpose of the 
guidance is to help achieve development that provides for the safe and free 
movement of all road users, including cars, lorries, pedestrians, cyclists and public 
transport. Design elements are encouraged which provide road layouts which meet 
the needs of all users and restrain vehicle dominance, create an environment that is 
safe for all road users and in which people are encouraged to walk, cycle and use 
public transport and feel safe doing so; as well as to help create quality 
developments in which to live, work and play.  The document also sets out the 
quantum of off-street car parking required to be provided in new housing 
development. 

Page 11



Housing Supplementary Planning Document December 2017

A Housing Supplementary Planning Document was adopted (as amended) in 
December 2017 which provides guidance when dealing with Houses in Multiple 
Occupation proposals in the context of adopted Core Strategy Policy CS4. 

Section 4 of the Housing SPD provides guidance for assessment of applications that 
propose small or large houses in multiple-occupation. Small HiMOs are defined as 
shared houses or flats occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals who share 
basic amenities and large HiMOs are for more than 6 occupiers and are a ‘sui 
generis’ use. i.e. they do not fall into any existing class in the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order.  These proposed changes of use do not benefit from 
being ‘permitted development’ in Loughborough due to the Article 4 Direction which 
was introduced in 2012.  

The SPD accepts that HiMOs help to meet local housing requirements and can be an 
important type of accommodation for a range of people including those on low 
incomes and young people (para 4.1) and it also repeats the objectives of Core 
Strategy Policy CS4 that seeks to support the well-being, character and amenity of 
local communities by managing the proportion of HiMOs.

The SPD also provides guidance in respect of the Policy CS4 criteria for considering 
the potential impact on the social and physical character and amenity (HSPD12), 
amenity space (HSPD 13), noise insulation (HSPD 14) and parking (HSPD 15).   

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998

This places a duty on the local planning authority to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent crime and disorder in its area.  The potential impact on community safety is 
therefore a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.

National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) reinforces and provides additional 
guidance on the policy requirements of the Framework and provides extensive 
guidance on design and other planning objectives that can be achieved through 
getting good design.  These include the consideration of local character, landscaping 
setting, safe, connected and efficient streets, crime prevention, security measures, 
access and inclusion, efficient use of natural resources and cohesive and vibrant 
neighbourhoods. 

Article 4 Direction

Although an Article 4 Direction has applied in Loughborough since February 2012, 
which removes the rights to change the use of Class C3 dwellings to Class C4 
houses in multiple occupation in Loughborough, this is not directly relevant to this 
application.  This is because the property was used as a C4 HiMO before 2012 when 
the Article 4 Direction came into effect. 

Page 12



Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 

Requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

Relevant Planning History

P/01/3075/2 – Demolition of outbuilding and erection of single storey extension to 
rear of terraced house – Withdrawn.

Responses of Statutory Consultees

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the proposal.  With 
regards to noise issues, it has been confirmed that there have been no reports of 
noise nuisance arising from the current use over the past five years.

The Council’s Housing Standards Officer has no concerns about the proposed 
application.  It is advised that should planning permission be granted, the applicant 
would need to apply for a new HiMO license.  

Other Comments Received

Councillor Tillotson objects to the proposal on the following grounds:

 Paget Street is already saturated with HiMOs, so increasing the size of one 
cannot be justified. 

 No concerns about the design, but does believe increasing the size of a HiMO 
in an area already saturated with them will reduce the residential amenity of 
neighbours.  

Consideration of the Planning Issues

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:

 Principle of development
 Design and the Impact on the Street Scene and Heritage Assets
 The Impact on Residential Amenity
 Highway Safety
 Other Matters.

The Principle of the Development

The starting point for decision making on all planning applications is that they must 
be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  Policies in the adopted Core Strategy and the saved policies in 
the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan are therefore the starting point for 
consideration.  The application site is within Loughborough, one of the main urban 
areas of the Borough, where the principle of extending dwellings is acceptable.  The 
proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy and Policy 
ST/2 of the saved Local Plan.

Page 13



The host property is an existing HiMO, with the proposal seeking to increase the 
number of bedrooms and communal living space at the property.  Policy CS4 of the 
Core Strategy effectively seeks to manage the proportion of houses in multiple 
occupation to support the well-being, character and amenity of communities.  This 
will be achieved by preventing development which damages the social and physical 
character and amenity of a street and residential area, generates noise and 
disturbance which is detrimental to amenity or generates demand for on-street car 
parking that would prejudice the safe operation of the highway, or cause detriment to 
amenity. 

Notwithstanding the above, given that the property is an existing HiMO, its extension 
to provide one additional bedroom would not lead to an overconcentration of HiMOs 
in this area.  Consequently, it would not damage the social character of the street 
and surrounding residential area, and therefore accords with Policy CS4 in this 
regard.  However, it is still necessary to consider, amongst other things, the physical 
impact of the development, its impact on residential amenity, car parking, and, 
highway safety.  These matters together with all other relevant material 
considerations relevant to this particular case are assessed below.  

Design and the Impact on the Street Scene and Heritage Assets 

The application site lies within the Loughborough Ashby Road Conservation Area 
which is largely defined by the well preserved Victorian terraced streets arranged in a 
clear grid pattern.  With the exception of several dormer windows that have been 
added to certain houses, including the host property, properties in Paget Street have 
largely retained their original character, with the front elevations benefitting from well 
preserved stone window cills and headers, eaves level detailing and prominent 
chimney stacks.  In contrast, many properties have been extended out to the rear, 
giving the rear elevations of houses on Paget Street a rather varied appearance. The 
existing single storey additions to No 68 Paget Street is one such example which 
projects out around 9m from the original rear wall of the property.

Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(the Act) require that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.  The National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) seeks to conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance. These objectives are reflected in Policy 
CS14 of the Core Strategy. 

The proposed extension would be positioned to the rear of No 68 and a shallow 
pitched gable ended roof would respect the design and form of both the host property 
and other similar rear outriggers elsewhere on Paget Street.  Despite its depth of 7m, 
the scale and proportions of the proposed addition would not dominate the host 
dwelling, nor appear out of character with the variety of similar single and two storey 
additions to the rear of houses on this side of the street.  The proposal would not 
therefore cause harm to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area as a 
designated heritage asset.  Consequently, the proposed extension would preserve 
the character and appearance of the host dwelling and the Conservation Area and 
would therefore accord with Policies CS2, CS4, CS11 and CS14 of the Core 
Strategy, Policies EV/1 and H/17 of the Local Plan, the expectations of the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act and the Framework, which amongst 

Page 14



other things, seek to ensure that proposals are of high quality design and protect 
heritage assets and their setting.

The Impact on Residential Amenity 

Core Strategy Policy CS2 and saved Local Plan Policies EV/1 and H/17 promote 
high quality design and layouts to preserve residential amenity for both occupiers of 
existing neighbouring properties and the future occupiers of new development. 
Further guidance on residential amenity is set out in the Leading in Design SPD and 
the House Extensions SPG. 

Concern has been expressed regarding the provision of an extra bedroom at the 
property to accommodate 5 people, and the impact this will have on the social 
character of the area.  However, it should be noted that this is not an application for a 
change of use of the dwelling to a C4 House in Multiple Occupancy.  The property 
was in use as a HiMO prior to the Article 4 Direction being in place in 2012.  This 
means that up to six unrelated people could occupy the property at any time without 
the need for any further consent from the local planning authority. 

With regards to the scale of the single storey rear extension and the impact on the 
amenities of 69 Paget Street to the south west, the amended proposal extends 7m 
beyond the rear elevation of no 69 Paget Street. The extension proposed is also set 
1.5m from the northern boundary shared with 67 Paget Street.  It is considered that 
the orientation of the property and the overall height and design of the amended 
extension are such that a significant loss of sunlight and daylight is unlikely to be 
caused to the adjoining properties.  Furthermore, the proposal seeks to replace an 
existing lightweight lean to structure that currently extends 5.4m beyond the rear wall 
to a height of 2.5m. As such, the additional 1.6m in length and 0.8m in height 
proposed would not be a cause of unacceptable loss of amenity. 

The Housing SPD requires consideration of whether noise from either a new HiMO in 
itself, or cumulatively with others would generate unacceptable levels of noise and 
disturbance.  Where such an impacts are identified, the SPD sets out measures for 
how noise and disturbance can be mitigated.  

As previously stated, the lawful occupation of the property by up to six unrelated 
people is established, which is a material consideration in this case.  Noise in HiMOs 
can often be a concern for objectors because of the number of people who are living 
independently within the dwelling which can be considered to adversely affect the 
amenity of neighbouring properties.  The proposal provides bedrooms for five 
occupants, which is one more than the present time.  Therefore, whilst the property 
has a C4 use, the consideration of this application requires a judgement to be taken 
on the potential for noise and disturbance resulting from the extensions and its 
impact on neighbouring amenity.   

The property is a terraced dwelling, and the application makes provision for 
extensions along the boundary with the neighbouring property at 69 Paget Street. 
With regard to noise transference between the properties, there is no guarantee that 
there would not be some sound transmission to the adjoining properties.  However, it 
is considered that it would be unreasonable to refuse planning permission on the 
basis of noise concerns without any evidence that the property would be noisier than 

Page 15



the existing use, given that the property will remain as a residential use and the 
additional bedroom to be created would not be adjacent to any internal wall or 
habitable room of either neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the proposal seeks to 
replace an existing lean-to extension with a more substantial structure that would be 
subject to modern building regulations and therefore provide better noise and thermal 
insulation than the extension to be replaced.  For this reason, it is also not 
considered reasonable to apply a planning condition requiring the provision of sound 
proofing to conform with building regulations (document E) as set out in the HSDP14.

There have been six recorded instances of anti-social behaviour on Paget Street 
over the past 12 month period.  A further 15 recorded instances were reported on the 
adjacent streets. Whilst these statistics are acknowledged, it would be unreasonable 
to assume that the proposal to increase the size of this existing HiMO would 
exacerbate any conflict between existing residents or increase any occurrences of 
anti-social behaviour within the locality.  

To conclude therefore, whilst it is considered that there will be instances where a 
clash of lifestyles or behaviour may cause disturbance to adjoining occupiers, it is 
considered unreasonable to assume the proposal would lead to an unacceptable 
level of noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties.  Conflict that occurs in 
individual cases is not a matter that can easily be expressed as a planning control.  
Such occurrence can be dealt with by other forms of regulation.  Due to the level of 
evidence available, it is concluded that there is insufficient justification to refuse the 
application on the basis of a perceived increase in noise and disturbance. 

The provision of bin storage for HiMOs can also be of concern for local residents.  
The property has sufficient space to its rear with direct access to the street to 
accommodate the range of current wheelie bin types offered as part of the regular 
domestic refuse collection service and bins can therefore be stored off the public 
highway. 

Given the above context, it is not considered that the amended proposal would have 
a substantial adverse impact on neighbouring amenity.  As such, the proposal 
accords with Core Strategy Policy CS2, saved local plan policy EV/1, the Framework, 
the House Extension SPG and the SPD’s on Housing and Leading in Design. 

Highway Safety

Saved Local Plan Policy TR/18 requires new development to provide off-street 
parking for vehicles and promotes standards that requires 3 parking spaces for a 4 or 
more bedroom dwelling in the interests of highway safety.  Paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF states that; new development should only be resisted on highway grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impact on the road network would be severe.

Parking in Paget Street is restricted to permit holders only or for maximum stays of 1 
hour with no returns within 1 hour.  The proposal would only provide one additional 
bedroom within an existing HiMO.  Clearly such a modest increase in the size of the 
HMO is unlikely to generate demand for on-street car parking that would prejudice 
the safe operation of the highway (i.e. could be safely accommodated on Paget 
Street).  Furthermore, current parking standards require 3 parking spaces for 

Page 16



properties with 4 bedrooms or more.  The existing 4 bedroom HiMO does not benefit 
from any off street parking provision and therefore does not at present comply with 
parking standards for a property of this size.  The addition of one bedroom as 
proposed would not therefore result in any additional parking demand that would 
conflict with Policy TR/18 nor exacerbate an existing shortfall in parking provision. 

It is pertinent to note that Planning Inspectors have accepted HiMOs in 
Loughborough where there is substandard or no car parking, because of the 
proximity to local services, schools and employment.  For example, in allowing the 
appeal at 76 Hermitage Road, the Inspector noted the property was to be occupied 
by up to 6 persons and considered a single parking space to be adequate (Ref 
P/17/0072/2).  It is also relevant that in allowing the HiMO appeal at 94 Hermitage 
Road where one space was provided and room for a second space was available, 
the Inspector considered that the second space was unnecessary and would be 
damaging to the character and appearance of the street (Ref P/16/0845/2).

Having regard to the case law above, the sites sustainable location in close proximity 
to the town centre and the current use and level of occupation at the property, it is 
not considered that the proposal would cause unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. It is 
therefore concluded that the proposal accords with Paragraph 109 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

Conclusion

Decisions on applications need to be made in accordance with the adopted 
development plan policies unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

The main issue to be considered in this case is the impact of the provision of an 
additional bedroom at the property, design and heritage assets, the impact on 
residential amenity and highway safety.

Whilst it is acknowledged that a large extension is proposed, the design of the 
amended application is considered acceptable in design terms and would comply 
with Policies CS2, EV/1 and H/17 and the advice contained within the Leading in 
Design SPD and the House Extensions SPG.  Only the side extension would be 
visible from the street scene, and, overall it is not considered that the proposal would 
cause significant harm to visual amenity and the character of the area or harm 
heritage assets or their setting. 

With regards to neighbouring amenity, the development complies with the provisions 
of policies CS2, EV/1 and H/17 along with the advice given in the Leading in Design 
SPD and House Extensions SPG with regards to loss of light, privacy and outlook.  
Whilst concerns have been raised with regards to the over concentration of HiMOs, 
the dwelling has established use as a C4 HiMO for 3-6 people, which is a significant 
consideration in this case.  Given this context and for the reasons set out in the 
report above, it is not considered that there are sufficient grounds to justify a reason 
for refusal on neighbouring amenity grounds.  

The development does not seek to provide any off street parking. However, the 
addition of a single bedroom to the property would not create additional demand for 

Page 17



on street parking that would cause an unacceptable impact or severe harm to 
highway safety. It is therefore not considered that the development would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe.  

Accordingly it is recommended having regard to the above considerations that 
planning permission is granted conditionally.

RECOMMENDATION:

Grant Conditionally
 

1 The development, hereby permitted, shall be begun not later than 3 years 
from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:
P003 Rev. A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan and Eaves Detail
P006 Rev. A - Proposed Elevations
A002 Rev. A - Proposed Site Plans all received on 19th March 2019

P004 – First and Second Floor Plans
A001- Site Location Plan 
Planning Application Form all received on 2nd January 2019
REASON:  To define the terms of the planning permission.

3 The facing materials to be used in the construction of the new works hereby 
permitted shall match as closely as possible to those of the existing building.
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development.

4 Notwithstanding the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, (or any order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order, with or without modifications), no openings or 
windows shall be inserted in the south western elevation of the single storey 
rear extension hereby approved. 
REASON: To prevent undue overlooking of nearby dwellings, in the interests 
of the privacy of nearby residents.

The following advice notes will be attached to a decision:

1 DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES RELEVANT TO THIS DEVELOPMENT 
- Policies CS2, CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan (2011-2028) Core 
Strategy, Policies EV/1, TR/18 and H/17of the Borough of Charnwood 
Local Plan and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
have been taken into account in the determination of this application. The 
proposed development complies with the requirements of these policies 
and there are no other material considerations which are of significant 

Page 18



weight in reaching a decision on this application.

2 Planning permission has been granted for this development because the 
Council has determined that, although representations have been received 
against the proposal, it is generally in accord with the terms of the above-
mentioned policy/ies and, otherwise, no harm would arise such as to 
warrant the refusal of planning permission.

3 The provisions of the Party Wall Act 1996 may apply in relation to the 
boundary with the neighbouring properties. A Solicitor or Chartered 
Surveyor should be able to give advice about whether and how the 
proposed work falls within the scope of this Act.

4 Provision should be made to make sure that all existing drainage systems 
continue to operate effectively.

5 The decision has been reached taking into account paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and in accordance with The Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.

Page 19



This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the 
permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.

Page 20



Delegated planning decisions made by Charnwood Borough Council since the last Plans Committee meeting

Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/19/0337/2 Householder 136 Cropston Road 
Anstey 
Leicestershire
LE7 7BL

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

11-Apr-2019 Anstey

P/19/0140/2 CL (existing) Foxhill Farm
343 Walton Lane 
Walton On The Wolds 
LE12 8JX

Agricultural use comprising grazing 
and hay making.

Permission granted 
unconditionally

10-Apr-2019 Barrow & Sileby
West
The Wolds

P/19/0294/2 Householder 522 Loughborough Road
Birstall 
Leicestershire 
LE4 3EG

Two storey extension to rear and 
external insulation to side of 
dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

09-Apr-2019 Birstall Wanlip

P/19/0145/2 Householder 3 Keepers Croft 
East Goscote 
LE7 3ZJ

Erection of single storey extension 
to rear and side of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 East Goscote
Ward

P/19/0223/2 Householder 53 Roecliffe Road 
Newtown Linford 
Leicestershire 
LE12 8TN

Single storey extension to side and 
rear of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

09-Apr-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/0343/2 Householder 40 Bird Hill Road 
Woodhouse Eaves 
Leicestershire
LE12 8RR

Erection of single storey extension 
to rear of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

12-Apr-2019 Forest Bradgate

P/19/0316/2 Householder 149 Loughborough Road
Hathern 
Leicestershire 
LE12 5HZ

Proposed single storey rear 
extension.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions 09-Apr-2019 Loughborough 

Hathern & 
Dishley

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/0379/2 Discharge of
Conditions

Former Moseley Group
(PSV) plc 
Derby Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire

Discharge of condition 15 of 
P/14/2404/2 - Relating to the 
Monitoring of Contamination levels.

Conditions discharged - 
confirmed

11-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Lemyngton

P/19/0319/2 CL (existing) Longcliffe Golf Club 
Snells Nook Lane 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 3YA

Certificate of Lawfulness (Existing) 
for the installation of biomass boilers 
over 45Kw.

Permission granted 
unconditionally

10-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Nanpantan

P/19/0234/2 Householder 17 Woodlands Drive 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 2DB

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling. (Revised scheme - 
P/18/2275/2 refers)

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

10-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Outwoods

P/19/0242/2 Householder 17 Southdown Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 2TE

Proposed single storey extension to 
rear of dwelling

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

12-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Outwoods

P/19/0341/2 Householder 12 Charnwood Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire
LE11 2BN

Application of render to rear 
elevation of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

11-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Southfields

P/19/0362/2 Householder 18 Palmer Avenue 
Loughborough 
LE11 5NH

Erection of first floor extension to 
rear of dwelling (revised scheme 
P/18/1124/2 refers).

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P/19/0292/2 Full 1 Storer Road 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 5EQ

Change of use to cafe (Class A3). Permission granted subject to 
conditions

10-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P/19/0325/2 Full 91 Paget Street 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 5DT

Proposed single storey rear 
extension to small House in Multiple 
Occupation (Class C4). (Revised 
scheme - P/18/2359/2 refers)

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

10-Apr-2019 Loughborough
Storer

P
age 22



Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/0211/2 Full 3 Edinburgh Way 
Mountsorrel 
Leicestershire 
LE12 7FU

Proposed single storey extension to 
side of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

11-Apr-2019 Mountsorrel

P/19/0390/2 Householder 18 Mountsorrel Lane 
Rothley 
Leicestershire
LE7 7PR

Installation of dropped kerb to front 
of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/18/2595/2 Householder 959 Loughborough Road
Rothley 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7NJ

Single storey extension to rear of 
dwelling and conversion of garage.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

10-Apr-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/0333/2 Householder 49 Garland 
Rothley 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7RG

Two storey extension to side and 
rear of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

11-Apr-2019 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/19/0444/2 Householder 18 Woodpecker Way 
Shepshed 
Leicestershire
LE12 9WG

Proposed conservatory to rear of 
dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

12-Apr-2019 Shepshed East

P/19/0328/2 Discharge of
Conditions

37 Springfield Road 
Shepshed 
Leicestershire
LE12 9QW

Discharge of condition 3 of 
P/16/0533/2 regarding glazing 
specifications

Conditions discharged - 
confirmed

08-Apr-2019 Shepshed West

P/19/0314/2 Outline 
Planning 
Permission

137 Seagrave Road
Sileby 
Leicestershire 
LE12 7TW

Outline application for the erection of
3 no. dwellings and associated 
works. (Access to be considered 
with all other matters reserved)

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 Sileby

P/19/0298/2 Householder 12 Barnards Drive 
Sileby 
Leicestershire 
LE12 7QL

Two storey extension to side and 
rear.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

10-Apr-2019 Sileby

P
age 23



Application
number

Application
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date  Ward

P/19/0303/2 Full Cradock Cottage
74 Brook Street 
Wymeswold 
Leicestershire 
LE12 6TU

Conversion of outbuilding into 
ancillary annex accommodation to 
existing dwelling house.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 The Wolds

P/19/0308/2 Householder The Nutshell
117 Brook Street 
Wymeswold 
Leicestershire 
LE12 6TT

Proposed single storey extension to 
side of dwelling.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

11-Apr-2019 The Wolds

P/19/0354/2 Discharge of
Conditions

Bandalls Farm
Cotes Road
Burton On The Wolds
Leicestershire
LE12 5TF

Discharge of conditions 10, 14 and
16 of P/16/1756/2 - relating to a 
Landscape Management Plan, 
Visilibility Splays, and Outdoor 
Lighting.

Conditions discharged - 
confirmed

11-Apr-2019 The Wolds

P/19/0339/2 Householder 39 Barrow Road 
Burton On The Wolds 
Leicestershire
LE12 5TB

Erection of two storey extension to 
front and side, single storey 
extension to rear, first floor balcony 
to rear and provision of raised patio 
area to rear of dwelling (revised 
scheme P/18/2400/2 refers).

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

12-Apr-2019 The Wolds

P/19/0304/2 Householder 14 Colby Road 
Thurmaston 
Leicestershire 
LE4 8LF

Proposed 2-storey side and single 
storey rear extension including 
rendering to existing.

Permission granted subject to 
conditions

08-Apr-2019 Thurmaston

P/19/0401/2 Discharge of
Conditions

24 Church Lane 
Thrussington 
Leicestershire 
LE7 4TE

Discharge of conditions 3 and 5 of 
P/18/1095/2 - relating to details of 
the rooflights and 'opening up' 
works.

Conditions PART
discharged

08-Apr-2019 Wreake Villages

P/19/0673/2 Consultation 
from another 
authority

87 Gynsill Lane 
Anstey 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7AJ

First floor extension with increase in 
ridge height and single storey rear 
extension.

No objections raised to the 
proposal.

12-Apr-2019

P
age 24


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	Plans 25 April 2019 Item 01 P 18 2601

	6 List of Applications Determined under Delegated Powers

